



for you

Note Number: 03/13/09

The New Zealand Permanent Mission to the United Nations presents its compliments to the Secretariat of the International Seabed Authority and has the honour to refer to the decision of the Council of the International Seabed Authority (ISBA/18/C/21) adopted on 26 July 2012 and to the Authority's Note no. 44/13 dated 6 February 2013.

The New Zealand Permanent Mission to the United Nations has the further honour to submit the texts of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea Act 1996 (attached at Annex 1) and the Continental Shelf Act 1964 (attached at Annex 2) which were adopted by New Zealand with respect to activities in the Area.

The New Zealand Permanent Mission to the United Nations takes this opportunity to renew to the Secretariat of the International Seabed Authority the assurances of its highest consideration.

New Zealand Permanent Mission to the United Nation

27 March 2013

Encl. 2



Reprint as at 1 August 2007



United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea Act 1996

Public Act 1996 No 69
Date of assent 26 July 1996
Commencement see section 1(2)

Contents

		Page
	Title	. 2
1	Short Title and commencement	2
	Part 1	
	Preliminary provisions	
2	Interpretation	2
3	Meaning of State Party	3
4	Act to bind the Crown	4
	Part 2	
	The Area	
5	Purpose	4
6	Persons to have licences to carry out activities in Area	4
7	Grant of licences	5
8	Offence to carry out activities without licence	6
9	Application of criminal and civil law	6
10	Liability of principal for acts of agents	7

Note

Changes authorised by section 17C of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989 have been made in this reprint.

A general outline of these changes is set out in the notes at the end of this reprint, together with other explanatory material about this reprint.

This Act is administered by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade.

	United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea Act 1996	Reprinted as a 1 August 200'
11	Limitation of proceedings	Ç
	Part 3	
	Decisions of international courts or tribun	als
12	Prompt release of vessels and crews	g
13	Applicable law	10
14	Enforcement of decisions of chamber	11
	Miscellaneous provisions	
15	Evidence of decision	12
16	Rules of court	12

An Act to complete the implementation in the law of New Zealand of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea

1 Short Title and commencement

- (1) This Act may be cited as the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea Act 1996.
- (2) This Act shall come into force on 1 August 1996.

Part 1 Preliminary provisions

2 Interpretation

In this Act, unless the context otherwise requires,—

activity means any activity of exploration for, and exploitation of, the resources of the Area

Area means the sea-bed and ocean floor and subsoil thereof, beyond the limits of national jurisdiction

Convention means the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea, done at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982

Crown entity has the same meaning as it has in the Public Finance Act 1989

department has the same meaning as it has in the Public Finance Act 1989

licence means a licence granted under section 7

Minister means the Minister of the Crown who, under the authority of any warrant or with the authority of the Prime Minister, is for the time being responsible for the administration of this Act

Secretary means the Secretary of Foreign Affairs and Trade **State enterprise** has the same meaning as it has in the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

Compare: United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea art 1(1), (3)

3 Meaning of State Party

- (1) In this Act, the term State Party means—
 - (a) a State; or
 - (b) a self-governing associated State of a kind referred to in paragraph (c) or paragraph (d) of article 305, paragraph 1, of the Convention; or
 - (c) a territory of a kind described in paragraph (e) of article 305, paragraph 1, of the Convention; or
 - (d) an international organization of a kind described in paragraph (f) of article 305, paragraph 1, of the Convention—

in relation to which the Convention is in force.

- (2) The Secretary may from time to time certify in writing that—
 - (a) a State; or
 - (b) a self-governing associated State of a kind referred to in paragraph (c) or paragraph (d) of article 305, paragraph 1, of the Convention; or
 - (c) a territory of a kind described in paragraph (e) of article 305, paragraph 1, of the Convention; or
 - (d) an international organization of a kind described in paragraph (f) of article 305, paragraph 1, of the Convention—

is or was at the time specified in the certificate one in relation to which the Convention is or was in force, and may at any time revoke such a certificate.

(3) Any certificate under subsection (2) shall, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, be conclusive evidence of the matters to which it relates.

- (4) Any court or any person acting judicially to which or to whom, in any proceeding, any certificate under subsection (2) is produced shall take judicial notice of the signature on it of the Secretary.
- (5) For the purposes of subsection (4),—

court includes the Supreme Court, the Court of Appeal, the High Court, and any District Court

person acting judicially means any person having in New Zealand by law authority to hear, receive, and examine evidence

proceeding means-

- (a) a proceeding conducted by a court; and
- (b) any interlocutory or other application to a court connected with a proceeding.

Section 3(5): substituted, on 1 August 2007, by section 216 of the Evidence Act 2006 (2006 No 69).

4 Act to bind the Crown

- (1) Except as expressly provided in subsection (2), this Act binds the Crown.
- (2) Where it is alleged that a Crown entity or a department has contravened section 8,—
 - (a) the Secretary, or any person directly affected by the act or omission alleged to constitute the contravention, may apply to the High Court for a declaration that the Crown entity or department has contravened that section; and
 - (b) if satisfied beyond reasonable doubt that the Crown entity or department has contravened that section, the court may make a declaration to that effect.

Part 2 The Area

5 Purpose

The purpose of this Part is to give effect in the law of New Zealand to provisions of Part XI of the Convention.

- 6 Persons to have licences to carry out activities in Area
- (1) No-

- (a) Crown entity; or
- (b) department; or
- (c) State enterprise; or
- (d) body incorporated or constituted under the law of New Zealand—

shall carry out any activity in the Area except in pursuance of a licence.

- (2) Subject to subsection (3), no New Zealand citizen shall carry out any activity in the Area except in pursuance of a licence.
- (3) The Minister may waive the requirement for a New Zealand citizen to carry out any activity in the Area pursuant to a licence where the Minister is satisfied—
 - (a) that the New Zealand citizen is to carry out, or is carrying out, any activity in the Area on behalf of—
 - (i) a State Party other than New Zealand; or
 - (ii) a body that, under the law of a State Party other than New Zealand, is equivalent to a Crown entity, a department, or a State enterprise; or
 - (iii) a body incorporated or constituted under the law of a State Party other than New Zealand; or
 - (iv) a national of a State Party other than New Zealand; and
 - (b) that the activity to be, or being, carried out has been authorised by the relevant State Party in accordance with the Convention.

Compare: 1964 No 28 s 5(1)

7 Grant of licences

- Subject to subsection (2), the Minister may from time to time, on application, grant, to any person who pursuant to section 6 requires a licence to carry out any activity in the Area, a licence authorising the licensee to carry out in the Area any activity specified in the licence.
- (2) The Minister shall not grant a licence unless the Minister is satisfied that the granting of the licence is consistent with New Zealand's rights and obligations under Part XI of the Convention.

- (3) Subject to subsection (4), every licence shall be subject to such conditions as the Minister, when granting it, thinks fit to impose in the circumstances of each particular case.
- (4) The Minister shall not impose a condition on a licence unless the Minister is satisfied that the condition is consistent with New Zealand's rights and obligations under Part XI of the Convention.
- (5) Any number of licences may be granted to the same person. Compare: 1964 No 28 s 5(2), (3), (5)

8 Offence to carry out activities without licence

- (1) Every person who, pursuant to section 6, requires a licence to carry out any activity in the Area commits an offence if that person carries out any activity in the Area otherwise than pursuant to a licence and in accordance with the conditions of the licence.
- (2) Every person who commits an offence against this section is liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding \$200,000.
- (3) On convicting any person of an offence against this section, the court may, in addition to imposing a penalty under subsection (2), order that person to pay an amount not exceeding 3 times the value of any commercial gain resulting from the commission of that offence if the court is satisfied that the offence was committed in the course of producing a commercial gain.
- (4) For the purposes of subsection (3), the value of any gain shall be assessed by the court, and any amount ordered to be paid shall be recoverable in the same manner as a fine.

 Compare: 1964 No 28 s 5(7); 1994 No 104 s 409

9 Application of criminal and civil law

- (1) For the purposes of this Act and of every other enactment (whether passed before or after the passing of this Act) and of every rule of law for the time being in force in New Zealand,—
 - (a) every activity carried out in the Area by a person who, pursuant to section 6, requires a licence to carry out any activity in the Area shall be deemed to be carried out in New Zealand; and

- (b) every court in New Zealand that would have jurisdiction (whether civil or criminal) in respect of that activity if it had taken place in New Zealand shall have jurisdiction accordingly; and
- (c) every power of arrest or of entry or search or seizure or other power that could be exercised under any enactment (whether passed before or after the passing of this Act) or under any rule of law in respect of any such activity or suspected activity if it had been carried out or was suspected to have been carried out in New Zealand may be exercised in respect of any such activity as if the activity had been carried out in New Zealand.
- (2) Nothing in this section shall limit the provisions of any enactment or rule of law relating to the liability of persons in respect of acts done or omitted beyond New Zealand or the jurisdiction of any New Zealand court under any such enactment or rule of law.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything in any other enactment, proceedings for the trial and punishment of any person charged with having committed an offence in respect of which the courts of New Zealand have jurisdiction by virtue only of this section shall not be instituted in any court except with the consent of the Attorney-General and on the Attorney-General's certificate that it is expedient that the proceedings should be instituted.
- (4) A person alleged to have committed an offence in respect of which the courts of New Zealand have jurisdiction by virtue only of this section may be arrested or a warrant for the person's arrest may be issued and executed, and the person may be remanded in custody or on bail, notwithstanding that the consent of the Attorney-General to the institution of proceedings for the offence has not been obtained; but no further or other proceedings shall be taken until that consent has been obtained.

Compare: 1964 No 28 s 7(1), (3), (4)

10 Liability of principal for acts of agents

(1) Where an offence is committed against this Act by any person acting as the agent or employee of another person, that other

person shall, without prejudice to the liability of the first-mentioned person, be liable under this Act in the same manner and to the same extent as if he, she, or it had personally committed the offence.

- (2) Notwithstanding anything in subsection (1), where any proceedings are brought by virtue of that subsection, it shall be a good defence, in the case of a natural person (including a partner in a firm), if the defendant proves—
 - (a) that either—
 - he or she did not know nor could reasonably be expected to have known that the offence was to be or was being committed; or
 - (ii) he or she took all reasonable steps to prevent the commission of the offence; and
 - (b) that he or she took all reasonable steps to remedy any effects of the act or omission giving rise to the offence.
- (3) Notwithstanding anything in subsection (1), where any proceedings are brought by virtue of that subsection, it shall be a good defence, in the case of a body corporate, if the defendant proves—
 - (a) that either—
 - neither the directors nor any person involved in the management of the body corporate knew or could reasonably be expected to have known that the offence was to be or was being committed; or
 - (ii) the body corporate took all reasonable steps to prevent the commission of the offence; and
 - (b) that the body corporate took all reasonable steps to remedy any effects of the act or omission giving rise to the offence.
- (4) Where any body corporate is convicted of an offence against this Act, every director and every person concerned in the management of the body corporate shall be guilty of the like offence if it is proved—
 - that the act or omission that constituted the offence took place with his or her authority, consent, or permission;
 and
 - (b) that he or she knew or could reasonably be expected to have known that the offence was to be or was being

committed and failed to take all reasonable steps to prevent or stop it.

Compare: 1994 No 104 s 410

11 Limitation of proceedings

- (1) Subject to subsection (2), no person shall be charged with an offence against section 8 unless an information charging that person with that offence is laid within 6 months after the matter arose.
- (2) Notwithstanding anything in section 14 of the Summary Proceedings Act 1957, the period of 6 months shall not run while the person charged is beyond the territorial limits of New Zealand.

Compare: 1994 No 104 s 411

Part 3 Decisions of international courts or tribunals

12 Prompt release of vessels and crews

- (1) The purpose of this section is to give effect in the law of New Zealand to article 292, paragraph 4, of the Convention.
- (2) In this section, the term court or tribunal means—
 - the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea established in accordance with Annex VI of the Convention;
 - (b) the International Court of Justice established under article 92 of the Charter of the United Nations; or
 - (c) an arbitral tribunal constituted in accordance with Annex VII of the Convention; or
 - (d) a special arbitral tribunal constituted in accordance with Annex VIII of the Convention for 1 or more of the categories of disputes specified therein.
- (3) This section applies to a decision by a court or tribunal under article 292, paragraph 4, of the Convention that a vessel or crew detained by authorities in New Zealand shall be promptly released.
- (4) Notwithstanding any other enactment or any rule of law, a vessel or crew that is the subject of a decision to which this section

applies shall be promptly released upon the posting of a bond or other financial security determined by the court or tribunal.

- (5) Where there is a set of proceedings before any court in New Zealand, or there is a decision of a court in New Zealand, relating to a vessel or crew that is the subject of a decision to which this section applies, the vessel or crew shall be promptly released if—
 - (a) a bond or other financial security determined by the court or tribunal is posted; and
 - (b) the parties to the proceedings or the parties bound by the decision, as the case may require, are the same as the parties bound by the decision to which this section applies; and
 - (c) there is no other set of proceedings before any court in New Zealand, relating to the vessel or crew, the parties to which are different from the parties bound by the decision to which this section applies; and
 - (d) there is no other decision of a court in New Zealand, relating to the vessel or crew, the parties bound by which are different from the parties bound by the decision to which this section applies.

13 Applicable law

- (1) The purpose of this section is to give effect in the law of New Zealand to article 21, paragraph 2, of Annex III of the Convention.
- (2) In this section,—

Authority means the International Sea-Bed Authority established by article 156 of the Convention

contractor means-

- (a) New Zealand, if New Zealand has been duly authorised by the Authority to carry out activities in the Area; or
- (b) a State Party other than New Zealand, if that State Party has been duly authorised by the Authority to carry out activities in the Area; or
- (c) any of the following entities if the entity is sponsored in accordance with article 153 of the Convention by the relevant State Party and if the entity has been duly

authorised by the Authority to carry out activities in the Area:

- (i) a Crown entity, a department, or a State enterprise; or
- (ii) a body that, under the law of a State Party other than New Zealand, is equivalent to a Crown entity, a department, or a State enterprise; or
- (iii) a body incorporated or constituted under the law of New Zealand; or
- (iv) a body incorporated or constituted under the law of a State Party other than New Zealand; or
- (v) a citizen of New Zealand; or
- (vi) a national of a State Party other than New Zealand; or
- (d) any combination of any of the bodies referred to in paragraphs (a) to (c) that meets the requirements of Part XI and Annex III of the Convention and that has been duly authorised by the Authority to carry out activities in the Area

court or tribunal means-

- (a) the Sea-Bed Disputes Chamber of the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea established under article 14 of Annex VI of the Convention; or
- (b) a commercial arbitral tribunal to which a dispute has been submitted pursuant to article 188, paragraph 2(a), of the Convention.
- (3) Every final decision rendered by a court or tribunal in respect of a contract between the Authority and a contractor shall be enforceable in New Zealand as if it were a decision of the High Court, and all the provisions of the law of New Zealand shall apply accordingly with any necessary modifications.

14 Enforcement of decisions of chamber

- (1) The purpose of this section is to give effect in the law of New Zealand to article 39 of Annex VI of the Convention.
- (2) In this section, the term **chamber** means the Sea-Bed Disputes Chamber of the International Tribunal for the Law of the Sea established under article 14 of Annex VI of the Convention.

(3) Every decision of the chamber shall be enforceable in New Zealand as if it were a decision of the High Court, and all the provisions of the law of New Zealand shall apply accordingly with any necessary modifications.

Miscellaneous provisions

15 Evidence of decision

- (1) A party seeking to enforce any decision referred to in section 13(3) or section 14(3) shall produce to the court the duly authenticated decision or a duly certified copy thereof.
- (2) Where the decision is in a foreign language, the party seeking to enforce it shall also produce a translation of it in the English language certified as a correct translation by an official or sworn translator, or by a diplomatic or consular agent of the country in which it was made, or in such other manner as the court may require.
- (3) Any document produced under subsection (1) or subsection (2) shall, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, be conclusive evidence of the document which it purports to be or the matters to which it relates, as the case may be. Compare: 1982 No 21 s 6

16 Rules of court

The Governor-General in Council, with the concurrence of the Chief Justice and any 2 or more of the members of the Rules Committee, of whom at least 1 shall be a Judge, may, under section 51C of the Judicature Act 1908, from time to time make rules relating to the enforcement of any decision of a kind referred to in section 13(3) or section 14(3), if the Governor-General, the Chief Justice, and the relevant members of the Rules Committee are satisfied that the rules are consistent with New Zealand's rights and obligations under the Convention.

Contents

- 1 General
- 2 Status of reprints
- 3 How reprints are prepared
- 4 Changes made under section 17C of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989
- 5 List of amendments incorporated in this reprint (most recent first)

Notes

1 General

This is a reprint of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea Act 1996. The reprint incorporates all the amendments to the Act as at 1 August 2007, as specified in the list of amendments at the end of these notes.

Relevant provisions of any amending enactments that contain transitional, savings, or application provisions that cannot be compiled in the reprint are also included, after the principal enactment, in chronological order. For more information, *see* http://www.pco.parliament.govt.nz/reprints/.

2 Status of reprints

Under section 16D of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989, reprints are presumed to correctly state, as at the date of the reprint, the law enacted by the principal enactment and by the amendments to that enactment. This presumption applies even though editorial changes authorised by section 17C of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989 have been made in the reprint.

This presumption may be rebutted by producing the official volumes of statutes or statutory regulations in which the principal enactment and its amendments are contained.

3 How reprints are prepared

A number of editorial conventions are followed in the preparation of reprints. For example, the enacting words are not included in Acts, and provisions that are repealed or revoked are omitted. For a detailed list of the editorial conventions, see http://www.pco.parliament.govt.nz/editorial-conventions/ or Part 8 of the Tables of New Zealand Acts and Ordinances and Statutory Regulations and Deemed Regulations in Force.

4 Changes made under section 17C of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989

Section 17C of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989 authorises the making of editorial changes in a reprint as set out in sections 17D and 17E of that Act so that, to the extent permitted, the format and style of the reprinted enactment is consistent with current legislative drafting practice. Changes that would alter the effect of the legislation are not permitted. A new format of legislation was introduced on 1 January 2000. Changes to legislative drafting style have also been made since 1997, and are ongoing. To the extent permitted by section 17C of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989, all legislation reprinted after 1 January 2000 is in the new format for legislation and reflects current drafting practice at the time of the reprint.

In outline, the editorial changes made in reprints under the authority of section 17C of the Acts and Regulations Publication Act 1989 are set out below, and they have been applied, where relevant, in the preparation of this reprint:

- omission of unnecessary referential words (such as "of this section" and "of this Act")
- typeface and type size (Times Roman, generally in 11.5 point)
- layout of provisions, including:
 - indentation
 - position of section headings (eg, the number and heading now appear above the section)
- format of definitions (eg, the defined term now appears in bold type, without quotation marks)
- format of dates (eg, a date formerly expressed as "the 1st day of January 1999" is now expressed as "1 January 1999")

- position of the date of assent (it now appears on the front page of each Act)
- punctuation (eg, colons are not used after definitions)
- Parts numbered with roman numerals are replaced with arabic numerals, and all cross-references are changed accordingly
- case and appearance of letters and words, including:
 - format of headings (eg, headings where each word formerly appeared with an initial capital letter followed by small capital letters are amended so that the heading appears in bold, with only the first word (and any proper nouns) appearing with an initial capital letter)
 - small capital letters in section and subsection references are now capital letters
- schedules are renumbered (eg, Schedule 1 replaces First Schedule), and all cross-references are changed accordingly
- running heads (the information that appears at the top of each page)
- format of two-column schedules of consequential amendments, and schedules of repeals (eg, they are rearranged into alphabetical order, rather than chronological).

5 List of amendments incorporated in this reprint (most recent first)

Evidence Act 2006 (2006 No 69): section 216